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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

YVETTE M. TILLMAN HENLEY
CIVIL ACTION
V.
NO. 18-4520
BRANDYWINE HOSPITAL, LLC and
LISA MACMULLEN , individually

MEMORANDUM RE: MOTION TO DISMISS

Baylson, J. July 23, 2019
l. Introduction

In this case, Plaintiff Yvette Tillman Henley alleges that her employer, Defendant
Brandywine HospitalLLC (“Brandywiné&), and her direct supervisdgefendantisa Macmullen
(“Macmuller?) (togethey “Defendanty, unlawfully discriminated and retaliatezbainst her on
the basis of her racdisability, and for taking medical leave, in violation of federal and state law.
Plaintiffs Amended ComplainECF 10, “Am. Compl.”) advances nine Counts:

1. Count I: Discrimination, retaliation, and hostile work environment on the basis of race
under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 against both Defendants;

2. Count II';: Discriminationand hostile work environment on the basis of nacder Title
VIl of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 200@tseq.(“Title VII”) , against Brandywiné;

3. Count Il : Retaliation on the basis of race under Title VIl against Brandywine;

4. Count IV: Disability discrimination under the Americans with DisaletiAct, 42 U.S.C.
§ 12101etseq.(*ADA”) , against Brandywine;

5. Count V: Retaliation under the ADA against Brandywine;

! The Amended Complaint includes an allegation of hostile work environment in the § 1981
discrimination and retaliation claimSéeAm. Compl. § 66.)

2 The Amended Complaint only specifically alleges hostile work environment inigiokit §
1981 in Count I. As Defendants assert that Plaintiff also alleges hostile worrengnt on the
bass of race under Title VII and the PHRA, the Court deems the Amended Complaieg® all
hostile work environment under § 1981, Title VII, and the PHR2eeECF 16,"Rep.” at 2.)
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6. Count VI: Retaliation and interference under the Family and Medical Leave Act, 29 U.S.C.
8 2601etseq.(*FMLA”), against both Defendants;

7. Count VII: Discrimination and hostile work environment based on race under the
Pennsylvania Human Relations AcB R.S. 851etseq.(“PHRA”), against Brandywiné;

8. Count VIII : Retaliation based on race under the PHRA against both Deferidants;
9. Count IX: Aiding and abetting discrimination under the PHRA against both Defendants.
Presently before this Court is Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss all Counts pursusetdral
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). For the reasons discussed below, Defendantsh Nsoti
GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART.
Il. Factual Background
Taking Plaintiff's allegations as true, the factual background is as folld®¥aintiff is an
African American female who resides in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. @mplC] 7.)
Brandywine, Plaintiff's employer, is a limited liability company existingder the laws of
Pennsylvania that has its principal place of business in Coatesville, Penresydnf[{ 8-9.)
Since October 2011, Plaintiff has been employedtiimé as a Registrar within the Emergency

Room Registration Department at Brandywin@d. 1 14.) During the relevant time period,

3 Count VII quotes § 954) of the PHRA, which prohibitdiscriminationon the basis of race,
color, and disability, among other characteristics. (Am. Compl. § 88.) WhileifPlalieges
that she “makes a claim against Defendants [sic] under all of the applicankgm® of PHRA
§ 955,” Plaintiff only alleges that Defendant violated the PHRA “by discrinmgatgainst the
Plaintiff because of her race.1d( 11 83-90.) Rather than determine which “provisions of
PHRA 8 955" may bedpplicablée, the Court reasonably construes Count VIl as a PHRA
discrimination claim basd on race.

4 Count VIII does not specify the basis for retaliation. Rather, the Amended Goinafieges
that “Defendants engaged in an unlawful discriminatory practice by . . . tietgliand
otherwise discriminating against the Plaintiff becaudelaintiff's opposition to the unlawful
employment practices of Plaintiff’'s employer.” (Am. Compl. 1 93.) As Couhkitée PHRA
discrimination claimis based on race, the Court may reasonably infer that Count VIl alleges
retaliation based on race undiee PHRA.



Macmullen was employed by Brandywine as Patient Access Supervisactudas Plaintiff's
supervisor. I¢l. 11 16-13.
A. Plaintiff's Medical Conditions

Plaintiff suffers from dabetes anthypokalemia (low potassium)(d. { 18.) Plaintiff's
conditions affect her ability to perform daily tasks, such as walking and ryrasngell aher
stamina to engage in certain physical activities continuously over loragperi time, including
siting. (Id.) Diabetes and hypokalemia alsause frequent urination and fatigueld.)
Hypokalemia specifically, may also cause elevated blood press(ide) However, neitheof
Plaintiff's conditionsaffects her ability to perform her job “fully and competentlyid. { 19.)

B. Plaintiff's Request for “Short Breaks”

That said, Plaintiff “continuously informed her supervisbréiat she requiredshort
breaks$ to check heblood pressure anolood sugar levels two to three times during each eight
hour workday. Id. 1 15 17.) Plaintiff's “supervisors” would respond by accusing her of
disappearing from work and taking unauthorized bathroom bre&ksY 16.) As a result, prior
to November 201,7Plaintiff was not given any scheduled breaks to check her blood sugar (or
blood pressure).ld. 1 17.)

C. February 2017—-February 2018 FMLA Leave

In a letter dated March 7, 2017, FMLA Source, Brandywine’s FMLA leave asirator,

sent a letter to Plaintiff, copying Macmullen, confirming that Plaintiff wastgohmtermittent

FMLA leave from February 12, 20170 February 11, 2018. (ECF 4% “Mot.” Ex. 1. The

5 Plaintiff does not allege where Macmullen resides.

® Plaintiff does not allege whether the “supervisors” included Macmullen.

" Defendants attach the FMLA approval documentation as Exhibit 1 to the MotiomisRis
As Plaintiff does not dispute the document’s authenticity and several ofifPtagtaims are
based on Plaintiff’'s approved intermittent FMLA leatres Court may consider this document
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“[e]stimated frequency of absence” approved was “[o]n an intermittens Basiup to 2
treatment(s) or appointment(s) per month lasting up to 2 hour(s) per treatmentfappbind
for up to 1 episodic incapacitation(s) per moht{id.)
D. February 2017 Discipline

On February 15, 2017, during the period of her approved intermittent FMLA leave,
Plaintiff complained in writingto Macmullen and “her direct supervisor” about “improper
statements” that were written about Plaintiff in a patient’s registration rezeravell as
“accusations about her work ethfe.(Am. Compl.{ 21.) Nine days later, on February 24, 2017,
Defendants issued Plaintiff an “Employee Counseling/Disciplinary Actiatichl’ about
Plaintiff's tardiness (“February Written Warning”).ld( 19 22 25) The February Written
Warning stated:

Since January 1, 2017, [Plaintiff] has been late for 29 of 40 days (a few may be

applied to FMLA). Being a few minutes late on occasion can be acceptable, being

consistently late is a habit. This can also cresdads with the prior shift getting

out on time. [Plaintiff] was previously coached by the Patient Accessvssqre

[Macmullen] regarding her tardiness on the weekends. . .. Immediate amueslista

improvement on tardiness must occur. If improvemeesdwt occur, this will

result in further disciplinary action up to and including termination].]
(Id. T 23.) Plaintiff alleges that “[a]t all timeprior” to the February Written Warnin|aintiff
requested and was granted intermittent FMLA leavetdueer “medical condition.” Id. 1 24.)

Also before the February Written Warning, Plaintiff “consistently antenofrequested

clarification” of her intermittent FMLA leave.Id. 1 30.) Other white employees of Brandywine,

without converting the instant Motion to Dismiss into a motion for summary judgmelier

Rule 12(d). SeePension Ben. Guar. Corp. v. White Consol. Indus., Inc., 998 F.2d 1192, 1196
(3d Cir. 1993) (“[A] court may consider an undisputedly authentic document that a defendant
attaches as an exhibit to a motion to dismiss if the plaintiff's claims are basesl on th
document.”).

8 The Amended Complaint does not specify whether the “accusations” refer tatémeents
allegedly made byIRintiff's “supervisors” in response to Plaintiff's request for “short ksda
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who werealsosupervised by Macmullen and worked in Plaintiff's department, were late but did
not receive similar discipline.ld. 1 27.)
E. April 2017 Meeting

Two months later, in April 2017, Plaintiff met with MacmuljeBrandywine’s Interim
Human Resources Director, Lisa Gglded Plaintiff's ceworker, Cheryl Lafondto “clear the
air” as to “issues. .,including Plaintiff's use of intermittent FMLA time and/or time to take short
breaks to check her blood sugar and blood pressdiek.Y 31.) During this meeting, Goble told
Plaintiff to “not even think about reporting [her] time to FMI[Bource],”and that if Plaintiff did,
Goble would contadEMLA Sourceand fight Plaintiff's request for FMLA leave directlyld({

32.) Goble also informed Plaintiff that “she kn[ew] all about medicine” and suggkatdldintiff
“maybe . . . should try to take [her] medicine in the morning or evematgér than take short
breaks. (Id. 1 33.)

As of the April 2017 meeting, Plaintiff had used approximately eight hours of inteninitt
FMLA leave. (d. T 34.) After the meeting, Plaintiff was afraid to use ‘tagproved and
necessaryintermittent FMLA leave in fear of being further disciplined or terminatédl. 1(35.)

F. Co-workers’ Conduct

Aside from Plaintiff's alleged issues with medical leave and short hree&®f Plaintiff's

co-workers, Heather Aubrand Lafond, a white woman, expressed to Plaintiff that they had

problems registering and/or servicing African Ameri€nergency Room patientsld(] 36.)

Lafond and Aubry described African American patieagSignorant,” “rude,” “disruptive,” and
“abrupt,” as well as other “racially incentive namedd. {f 37.) According to Lafond and Aubry,

African American patienta/erenice to Plaintiff because Plaintiff is also African Americaid. (

® The Amended Complaint does not allege when Aubry and Lafond made these comments.
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1 40.) As a result, Lafond and Aubitgverefused, and “often” continue to refuse, to handle the
registration of African American patientsId.(Y 39.) They “often” pass such patients off to
Plaintiff because she is African Americard. (] 41.)

Plaintiff informed Maamullen of Lafond and Aubry’'s“racially incentive and
discriminatory”’behavior, but Macmullen allowed this conduct to continue “on a regular Basis.”
(Id. 11 43.) For example, Lafond and Aubry have continued to refer to African American patients
in a racidly insensitive manner, and they “continuously” accuse Plaintiff of speaking “too much”
with her African American supervisBrbecause they are both African Americatu. (] 45- 46.)
Plaintiff has not experiencesimilar complaints about white employeepeakingwith white
supervisors. Id. T 42.)

Further, in August 2018, Lafond told Plaintiff that white women were superior to and have
more “class” than African American womenld.(f 48.) Lafond also stated that she “could
sexually satisfy [Plaintiff's] husband and [another African Americemdle employee’s]
husband.” Id. 1 51.) Lafond has also made comments about African Americans who live in
Coatesville and has told Plaintifiat she “[does not] even consider [Plaintiff] to be black . . .
because [she] live[s] out in the country, and [she] [does not] sound or seem bldc§.53.) As
aresult, Defendants have allegedly caused Plaintiff to “expand her job dutesssialate racially
provoked incidents in the Emergency Room” aoensure that African Americapatients are
treated equally to white patientsld.(] 56.) Plaintiff alleges that Defendants have caused, and
continue to cause, Plaintiff to suffer “loss of income, loss of salary, bonuses, bandfit¢her

compensation.” 1¢. 1 60.)

10 The Amended Complaint does not make any allegations about when Plaintiff informed
Macmullen of these comments or how Macmullen permitted this behavior to continue.
1 The Amended Complaint does not specify whether this supervisor is Macmullen.
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[l Procedural History

On December 11, 2017, Plaintiff filed charges of discrimination and rebaliaiith the
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), the Pennsylvania aduRelations
Commission, and the Philadelphia Commission on Human Relatich§l. 4.) Following receipt
of the Notice of Right to Sue from the EEOC on July 23, 2018, Plaintiff filed thenakigi
Complaint in this case on October 22, 20118. { 5; ECF 1.) On April 5, 2019, Defendants filed
a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint for failure $tate a claim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) (ECF 7).
On April 26, 2019, Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint, rendering the Motion to Bssthie
original Complaint moot (ECF 10, 11).

On May 10, 2019, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss the Amended @omECF
12). Plaintiff filed a Response in opposition on May 31, 2019 (ECF 15, “Resp.”), and Defendants
submitted their Reply in support on June 7, 2019 (ECF 16).
IV.  Legal Standard

In considering a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the Caodept[$ all factual
allegations as true [and] construe[s] the complaint in the light most favorable pathtiff.”

Warren Gen. Hosp. v. Amgen, In643 F.3d 77, 84 (3d Cir. 2011) (internal quotations marks and

citations omitted): To survive a motion taismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual

matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim for relief that is plausible on its fasbcroft v. Igbal

556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).

The Qurt in lgbal explained that, although a court must accept as true all of the factual
allegations contained in a complaint, that requirement does not apply to legalscoms|
therefore, pleadings must include factual allegations to support the leigat elsserted.lgbal,

556 U.S. at 678, 684.Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere



conclusory statements, do not sufficdd. at 678 €iting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555)seealso

Phillips v. Cty.of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 232 (3d Cir. 2008jt(hg Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556

n.3) (“We caution that without some factual allegation in the complaint, a claimant catisfyt s
the requirement that he or she will provide not only ‘fair notice,’ but also tbangdss’ on vhich
the claim rest8). Accordingly, to survive a motion to dismiss, a plaintiff must ple@dtual
content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendde i®iithe
misconduct alleged.’Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678c{ting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556).
V. Discussion

A. Parties Contentions

I. Defendant’ Motion to Dismiss

Defendants advance several reasons why Plaintiff’'s claims should besgidmis

First, Defendants argubatPlaintiff’'s claims of racial discrimination under § 1981 (Count
), Title VIl (Count 1), and the PHRA (Count VII) must be dismissed becalaet® has failed
to allege that she suffered an adverse employment action. (Metl4) 8Defendants contdn
that even if Plaintiff had alleged an adverse employment action, Plaintifidtaallegedany
adverse employment action occurred under circumstances giving rise tter@mde of racial
discrimination, as necessary to state racial discrimination clgichsat 12-14.) As to Plaintiff's
racebased hostile work environmesiaims (Counts I]I, and VII), Defendants aver that Plaintiff's
co-workers alleged racially insensitive comments do not amount to “severe or pervasive”
harassment.ld. at 21:-23.)

Second, Defendants contend that Plaintifisebasedretaliation claims under § 1981
(Count 1), Title VII (Count 1lI), and the PHRA (Count VIII) must be dismissed because

Defendants’ alleged interference with Plaintiff's FMLA leave does nostitnte a materially



adverse employment actior{ld. at 15-16.) Alternatively, Defendants arguthat Plaintiff has
failed to allege any causal connection between protected conduct under these atatans
adverse employment actiofid. at 15-17.)

Third, Defendants argue that Plaintiff's disability discrimination and retafiatlaims
under the ADA (Counts IV and V) fail because Plaintiff neither requioedequested a reasonable
accommodation, Plaintiff's requastor “short breaks” were noADA-protected conduct, and
Plaintiff cannotallege that she experienced a requisite adverse emplogwctant. (d. at 23-30.)

Fourth Defendants seek dismissal of Plaintiff's FMLA interference claim §E¥il) on
the grounds thalaintiff cannot plausibly allege that she was denied any benefit to whichashe w
entitled becausePlaintiff was granted intermittent FMLA leave.ld(at 33-41.) Defendants
contend that Plaintiff’'s FMLA retaliation claim (Count VI) falls short becausmftiffehas failed
to allege that she suffered an adverse employment adtohrat 41-42.)

Finally, Defendantsrguethat becausPlaintiff's PHRA claims against Brandywine must
be dismissed, it follows that Plaintiff's claim against Macmullen for aiding arettiad
Brandywine’s PHRA violations (Count I1X) must also be dismissédi.af 42.}2

ii. Plaintiff 's Response

In the Response, Plaintiff contends that the-tzarged discrimination and retaliation claims
(Counts 1, 11, 1, VI, and VIII) should not be dismissed for failure to alleme adverse
employment action. Plaintiff contends that the expansion of her job dutiesetzalate racially
provoked incidents and to service patients pasffdaly Lafond and Aubry amounts to an adverse

employment action. (Resp. atd 7-9.) As to Plaintiff's racial discrimination claims in particular

12The Cournotes that the Amended Complaint alleges aiding and abetting against
“Defendants,” but both Defendants and Plaintiff construe this Countlagraagainst only
Macmullen. (Sedm. Compl. {1 72; Mot. at 42; Resp. at 14-15.)
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(Counts I, II, and VII), Plaitiff alsocontends that the Amended Complaint adequately alleges that
similarly situated individuals outside of her protected class were treatedfavorably, as white
employees within Plaintiff's department were not issued warnings for tasdsimila to the
February Written Warning.Id. at 7.)

Plaintiff also seekto refute Defendants’ contention that Lafond and Aubry’s comments
do not amount to “severe or pervasive” harassment necessary to sustain illee wookt
environment claira (Count | II, and VII). (d. at 9-11.) Plaintiff lists examples of the racially
insensitive conduct alleged, which Plaintiff allegedly endured over a signifpeiod of time.

(Id. at 10.}°

Plaintiff then contends that the ADA discrimination andliation claims (CoumstIV and
V) withstand dismissal becauB&intiff requestedaasonable accommodations of FMLA leave.
(Id. at 12-13.) Plaintiff also argues thBrandywine’sfailure to engage in an interactive process
after Plaintiff requestetshort breaks” is an adverse employment actidd. at 13.)

With respect to Plaintiff's FMLA interference and retaliation claims (Count RIBintiff
opposes Defendants’ argument that Plaintiff failed to put Defendants on notice of thdomee
FMLA leave to excuse tardinesgld. at 13.) According to Plaintifidefendants were on notice
of Plaintiff's need for intermittent FMLAeavebecause they knew that Plaintiff was disabldd. (
at 13-14.) That said, Plaintiff contends that the issue of notice is a factual issue thatotloe

warrant dismissal at the plding stage. 1d.)

13 plaintiff contends in the Response that she was subjected to a hostile work envitoasaednt
on her race andisability. (d. at 9.) However, as Defendants point out, the Amended
Complaint only alleges hostile work environment on the basis of r&s=Mpt. at 1 n.1.)To

the extent that Plaintiff is advancing a disabiligsed hostile work environment claim in the
Responsehe Court dismisses that claim.
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Lastly, Plaintiff argues that because the Amended Complaint plausiblyeslleg
discrimination and retaliation under the PHRA, it follows that Plaintiff's claim of gidind
abetting PHRA violations (Count IX) must also survivid. &t 14-15.)

iii. Defendants Reply

In the Reply, Defendants contend that Plaintiff failed to addses®raldispositive
arguments raised in the Motion to Dismiss and, therefore, the Motion should bed grante
unopposed. (Rep. at 5.) Further, Defendants argue that Plaintiff's Response rntige20lsrt
as to the hostile work environment claimecause Plaintiff fails to allege thBefendantsas
opposed to Plaintiff’'s cavorkers, were responsible for any alleged harassmkhtat(6.)

B. Analysis

I Hostile Work Environment Claims (Counts |, II, and VII)

Plaintiff alleges that Aubry and Lafond’s racially insensitive commergated a hostile
work environment in violation of § 1981 (Count I), Title VII (Count II), and the PHRA (Count
VII). Hostile work environment claims under these statutes are subjéxt same analysis. See

Anderson v. Boeing Co., 694 F. App’x 84,88 (3d Cir. 2017) (addressing the plaintiff's race

and nationabriginatbased hostile work environment claims under Title VII, the PHRA, and §
1981 together). To state a hostile work environment claiptaintiff must adequately pleatt)

the employee suffered intentional discrimination because of his/her [2adbg discrimination
was severe or pervasive, 3) the discrimination detrimentally affected laigifh 4) the
discrimination would detrimentally affect a reasonable persdiké circumstances, and 5) the
existence ofespondeat superior liability [meaning the employer is responsibleCastleberry v.
STI Grp, 863 F.3d 259, 263 (3d Cir. 201(aJteratiors in original) (citation and internal quotation

marks omitted).
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In evaluating a hostile work environment claim, a court must considétdtatity of the
circumstances,” including “the frequency of the discriminatory condtis severity; whether it is
physically threatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive utteraarwtwhether it unreasonably

interferes with an employee’s work performanc#filler v. Thomas Jefferson Univ. Hosp., 565

F. App’x 88, 93 (3d Cir. 2014) (quoting Harris v. Forklift Sys., Inc., 510 U.S. 17, 23 (19D3g).

Third Circuit has indicated thatlleged “[r]acist comments solely directed toward others and made
outside of [the] [p]laintiff's presence” cannot, on their own, sustain a hostite @nvironment

claim. Felder v. Penn Mfg. Indus., Inc., 182 F. Supp. 3d 203, 209 (E.D. Pa. 2016) (McHugh, J.)

(citing Caver v. City of Trenton, 420 F.3d 243, 264 (3d Cir. 2005) (stating that a plaintiff cannot
establish a hostile work environment claim if she “was neither on the receivingpr the subject
of any comments”))).

Here, Defendants’ argument focuses on the second and fifth elements of thdgaian
case: whether Lafond and Aubry’s alleged comments and conduct amount to “severasiveser
discrimination for which Defendants are liableSeé€Mot. at 2123; Rep. at 5.) The Court
addressesaeh argument in turn.

a. “Severe or Pervasive’Discrimination

Defendants contend that the Amended Complaint fails to allege “severe or pervasive”
discrimination because Aubry and Lafond’s comments were sporadic anddsdlstet. at 21
22.) Without pleading the dates on which Aubry and Lafond made these commentsabsfend
argue, Plaintiff cannot establish that these comments were made with the rémgsiéacy to
state a hostile work environment claimSegid. at 22.) Plaintiff, on the other hand, points to
allegations demonstrating that Aubry and Lafond’s comments and “harassing caraucted

“over a significant period of time,” as required to withstand dismissal. (Re3p1@.)
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Though Defendants seek to challenge Plaintiff's claamfdilure to plead both severity
and pervasiveness, the crux of Defendants’ argument pertains to pervasivenéssdaride
contend that “numerous courts in the Third Circuit” have dismissed hostile work environment
claims for failing to meet the “sevece pervasive” test. (Mot. at 22.) However, the only Third

Circuit decision that Defendants cigherrod v. Philadelphia Gas Works, 57 F. App’x 68 (3d Cir.

2003), applied the “sevelnd pervasive” standard that has since been renounced by the Third
Circuit. Compare idat 76 (“[W]e must determine whether all of the alleged conduct was severe

andpervasive enough to create a hostile work environmentith, Castleberry863 F.3d at 264

(“The correct standard is ‘severe pervasive.””). Under the correct “severe or pervasive”

standard, “‘'severity’ and ‘pervasiveness’ are alternative possibilitiese sharassment may be
severe enough to contaminate an environment even if not pervasive; other, less objectionable
conduct will contaminate the workplace pnt it is pervasive.” Castleberry 863 F.3d at 264

(quoting_Jensen v. Potter, 435 F.3d 444, 449 n.3 (3d Cir. 2006)).

The question of whether alleged conduct is sufficiently “severe or pervasioghitext
specific.” Castleberry863 F.3d at 264holding that a supervisor’s use of thewrd” in front
of the plaintiffs and their neAfrican American ceworkers, particularly when accompanied by
threats of termination, was sufficiently severe conduct to state a hostdeemaronment claim);
id. at 266 (holding that the plaintiffs could demonstrate pervasiveness by giiegin“on several
occasions,” their sigin sheets contained racially discriminatory comments, and that they were
required to do menial tasks while their white, less experienced colleaguesmgerfmore
complex work);cf. Felder 182 F. Supp. 3d at 211 (concluding that amooker bullying the
plaintiff in the lunchroom, staring at the plaintiff in the bathroom, and two physicabobations

in the plaintiff’'s workspace didot constitute “severe or pervasive” discrimination).
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Here, Plaintiff alleges that the following incidents contributed to her hostilé wor
environment: (1) Aubry and Lafond “have refused and often continue to refuse” to rregiste

“certain” African American patients and describe African American patients awéigty” “rude,”
“disruptive,” and “abrupt”; (2) Aubry and Lafond “state” that the only reasat #irican
American patients are nice to Plaintiff is because she is African American; (B) &uwd Ldond
“will often” pass off the registration of African American patients to Plaintiff; (4) Aubry and
Lafond “continuously” accuse Plaintiff of speaking too often with her African Asaey female
supervisor because they are both African American; (5) ldafold Plaintiff that “white women
were better than black women, and that white women have more ‘class’ than black w@&nen”; (
Lafond told Plaintiff that white women were more sexually desired biga&frAmerican men and
stated that she “could sexuallyisat [Plaintiff's] husband and [another African American female
employee’s] husband”; (7) Lafond made “racially insensitive comments” &fiocan Americans
who live in Coatesvilleand (8) the February Written WarningSeeAm. Compl. 11 37, 39, 41,
46, 48, 50-53, 5y

Under the totality of the circumstances, Plaintiff has adequatelyedllsgyere or pervasive
conduct that could create a hostile work environment. Plaintiff has alleged thaaslbetv in
the presence of and was the subject of déoogaomments made about her race. Defendants’
argument that Plaintiff cannot establish pervasiveness without the datesefctrements is
unavailing. As the Third Circuit explained @astleberry“[ w]hetherthese allegations are true
and whether theyamount to ‘pervasiveness’ are questions to be answered after discovery.”
Castleberry863 F.3d at 266. Similar to the defendant€astleberryhere, WhatDefendants . .

. ignoreis that in every case they cite the claim was resolved at summary judgn@ntThe

frequency with which Aubry and Lafond made these comments is a matter to bededtdve
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discovery. Seeid. (noting that the number of times that racial remarks weniblded on the
plaintiffs’ sigrn-in sheets was an issue to address after discovery). Accordingly, the Court turns to
the fifth element of a hostile work environment claim: respondeat superititytiab

b. Respondeat Superior Lability

Defendants contend th&laintiff has failed to establish respondeat superior liability
because Plaintiff has not alleged any facts showing that Plaintiff experienstedatment after
she complained to Macmullen. (Rep. at 4, 5.) With respect to this eleitiet,basis foran
employer’s liability for hostile environment [racial] harassment dependshether the harasser

is the victim’s supervisor or merely a-amrker.” Shaw v. Temple Univ., 357 F. Supp. 3d 461,

477 (E.D. Pa. 2019) (Goldberg, (@uotingMiller v. Thomaslefferson Univ. Hosp., 908 F. Supp.

2d 639, 653 (E.D. Pa. 2012) (Joyner, &ff;d, 565 F. App’x 88)). “When a harasser is a-co
worker,” as is the case hefemployer liability attaches ‘. . . if the employer knew or should have
known of the harassmeahd failed to take prompt amgbpropriateemedial action.”” Miller, 908

F. Supp. 2d at 654 (quoting Huston v. Procter & Gamble Paper Prods. Corp., 568 F.3d 100, 104

(3d Cir. 2009)). Remedial action is “appropriate” “if it is reasonably calaitaterevent further
harassment.’Huston, 568 F.3d at 110 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Here, Lafond and Aubry are Plaintiff's -@eorkers, not her supervisors. Plaintiff has
adequately alleged that Brandywine may be held liable for thenum because Brandywine
“knew or should have known of the harassment and failed to take prompt and appropgdtalrem
action.” SeeMiller, 908 F. Supp. 2d at 654 (quotirlwston 568 F.3d at 104). The Amended
Complaint alleges that Plaintiff informed Macmullen, Plaintiff's supervisor, abrx and
Lafond’s “racially insensitive and discriminatory” conduct, but that Macmulldowad” these
offensive comments to continue. (Am. Compl. 1948) These allegations, viewed in the light
most favorable to Plaintiff, support a hostile environment cla@h. Miller, 908 F. Supp. 2d at
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654 (dismissing a hostile environment claim where the plaintiff never made a cdroplaiacial
harassment to a supervisor). Therefore, the Court will deny the Motion as to Ptahmtile
work environment claims.

ii. Race Discrimination Claims (Counts I, I, and VII)

Plaintiff alsoalleges that Defendants discriminated against her on the basisrat@en
violation of 8§ 1981 (Count 1), Title VII (Count II), and the PHRA (Count VII). For purpoges

the instant Motion, the Court addresses these claims tog&éeBrown v. J. Kaz, Inc., 581 F.3d

175, 18382 (3d Cir. 2009) (“[T]he substantive elements of a claim under section 1981 are
generally identical to the elements of an employment discrimination claim under Titlg VI

Fogleman v. Mercy Hosp., Inc., 283 F.3d 561, 567 (3d Cir. 2002) (“[T]he PHRA is to be

interpreted as identical to federal agdiscrimination laws[.]");Gutema v. Commc’ns Test Design,

Inc., No. 1804785,2019 WL 1958512, at *2 (E.D. Pa. May 2, 2019) (Pappert, J.) (analyzing the
plaintiff's claims of racial discrimination under Title VII, the PHRA, and § 1981 tlogrewhen
ruling on the defendant’s motion to dismiss).

If a plaintiff lacks direct evidence of discrimination, as is the case hismintnation
claims under these statutaie analyzed pursuant to the burden shifting framework set forth in

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (39FB@eCastleberry863 F.3cat 263 (“[A]

court reviews [Title VII and § 1981 claims] under the burdkifting framework outlined in

McDonnell Douglas . . .”). Under the McDonnell Dougldeamework, “a plaintiff must first

establish theequisiteelements oh[er] claim (called the@rima facie elements).”Id. To establish
a prima facie case of discrimination, a plaintiff must sufficieptgad

1)...[S]he is a member of a protected class; 2) [s]he was qualified for the position
[s]he held; 3) [s]he suffered an adverse employment action; and 4) that gimilarl
situated individuals not in plaintiff's protected class were treated moreatalyar

that the dverse employment action occurred under circumstances that give rise to
an inference of discrimination.
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Jenkins v. Polysences Inc., No. 166616, 2017 WL 1361689, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 29, 2017)

(Baylson, J.) (quoting Sarullo v. U.S. Postal Serv., 352 F.3d 789, 797 (3d. Cir. Z¥&2)50

Castleberry863 F.3cht 266 (providing the elements ofigsparate treatmetaim under § 1981).
At the motion to dismiss stage, a plaintiff does not need to prove the elementsrd tapre case
“because ‘it may be difficult’ for a plaintiff to prove discrimination ‘[b]efodiscovery has

unearthed relevant facts and evidenceCastleberry863 F.3d at 266 (quotirngwierkiewicz v.

Sorema N.A. 534 U.S. 506, 512 (2002))Rather, as relevant here, “a claim of employment
discrimination necessarily survives . . . so long as the reqprsite@ facie elements have been
established,” including adversenployment actionCastleberry863 F.3d 266seealsoJenkins,
2017 WL 1361689at *3 (“The plaintiff must plead sufficient facts to allow the factfinder to infer
that discrimination was the reason for the adverse employment action.”).

Defendants chadihge Plaintiff’s failure to allege sufficient facts to establish the third and
fourth elements of the prima facie caseguing that Plaintiff has failed fgausibly pleadan
adverse employment actian that such an action occurred undiecumstances giving rise to an
inference of race discrimination. (Selet. at 11-14.) The Court addresses each element in turn.

a. Adverse Employment Action

An adverse employment action is “an action by an employer that is ‘seriodaragible
enough to alter an employee’s compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of eergl8ym

Storey v. Burns Int'| Sec. Servs., 390 F.3d 760, 764 (3d Cir. 2004) (quodrtenas v. Massey

269 F.3d 251, 263 (3d Cir. 2001)ror example, “[tlermination, failure foromote,[ ] failure to
hire[,] . . . [and] actions that reduce opportunities for promotion or professional goanth

constitute adverse employment actions.” Walker v. Centocor Ortho Biotech, Inc., 558 F. App’x

216, 219 (3d Cir. 2014). In contrast, “lateral transfers and changes of title or repdatingsips
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have generally been held not to constitute adverse employment aclbnsge, e.g.Burlington

Indus., Inc. v. Ellerth, 524 U.S. 752, 761 (199®t{ngthat a “bruised eg’; a demotion without

a change in pay, benefits, duty, or prestige; and reassignment to a less conebnierejnot
adverse employment action@jtations omitted) The Third Circuit has indicated that “adverse

employment actions should . . . be considered in the aggreddagér v. City of Phila, No. 15

4264,2016 WL 1404156, at *6 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 11, 2016) (Padovdgiling Shaner v. Synthes

204 F.3d 494, 503 n.9 (3d Cir. 20008ccordingly, while the Court assesses each alleged adverse
employment action on its own, “whether the [allegations of fact are] suffiggdriigdsed on the
whole picture.” Magerr, 2016 WL 1404156, at *6afterations in original)quotingWoodson v.

Scott Paper Cp109 F.3d 913, 921 (3d Cir. 1997)).

The Third Circuit has stated, in a nprecedential opinion not cited by either party, that
“[a]lternatively, a plaintiff may prove an adverse employment action byimgdhat he or she was

subjected to &ostile work environment.”_Greer v. Mondelez Global, Inc., 590 F. App’x 170, 173

(3d Cir. 2014). Based on this decision, because the Court has concluded that Plagitéfkds
sufficient factssupporting racéased hostile work environment claintise Court will conclude

that Plaintiff should be allowed to proceed on the theory that allegations of a hostile work
environment establish the existence of an adverse employment action.

b. Inference of Discrimination

To properly plead the fourtblement of a discrimination claim, the plaintiff may either:
“(1) introduce evidence of comparators (i.e., similarly situated employeeqayh@ere not
members of the same protected class émndwere treated more favorably under similar
circumstances);rq2) rely on circumstantial evidence that otherwise shows a causal nexusrbetwe
h[er] membership in a protected class and the adverse employment adéinkiris 2017 WL

1361689, at *2quotingGreene vV.l. Water & Power Auth.557 F. App’x 189, 1953d Cir.
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2014)). Although comparators need not be “identically situated,” theust nevertheless be

similar in*all relevant respects.Jenkins, 2017 WL 1361689, at *2 (quoting Opsatnik v. Norfolk

S. Corp., 335 F. ppx 220, 22223 (3d Cir. 2009)). Where a plaintiff alleges that fellow
employees were similarly situated, as is the case here, “she must show taaipllogees dealt
with the same supervisor, were subject to the same standards, and had engaged cosohoitt
without such differentiating or mitigating circumstances as would distinguisictmeluct or the

employer’s treatment of them.”Donaldson v. SEPTANo. 174475,2019 WL 801965, at *9

(E.D. Pa. Feb. 21, 2019) (Baylson, J.) (quotbmsatnik 335 F. App’x at 223).

Here, Plaintiff alleges thdter coworkers do not treat white Emergency Room patients in
the same manner as African American patiesmsl that there were no similar complaints about
white employees speaking too often with their white managers. (Am. Compl. 11 2r|aatiff
also alleges that Aubry and Lafond’s comments and the fact that they have pagseidasf
American patiers to Plaintiff haxreateda “racially insensitive and hostile work environment.”
(Seeid. 11 41, 5558.) Further, to the extent that the February Written Warning contributed to the
hostile work environment, Plaintiff alleges that white employees alsteruMacmullen’s
supervision and within Plaintiff's department were also late but did not regeilarsvarnings.

(Id. T 27.) Plaintiff does not allege that the white employees were tardy to the same degre
Plaintiff, nor that these employees were “previously coached by [Macmuégatding [their]
tardiness,” as the February Written Warning reveals about Plain8iéeid. § 23.) However,
overall, Plaintiff's allegations raise a reasonable expectation that digcmiereveal conditions
giving rise to an inference of discriminatioikeeCastleberry863 F.3d at 266 (holding that the

plaintiffs’ allegations demonstrating a hostile work environment under 8 1981 also amounted to
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evidence oflisparate treatmeiri violation of§ 1981). DefendantsMotion to Dismiss Plaintiff's
race discrimination claims will be denied.

iii. RaceBased Retaliation Claims (Counts I, Ill, and VIII)

Plaintiff further alleges that Defendants retaliated against fberreporting racial
discrimination under § 1981 (Count 1), Title VII (Count Ill), and the PHRA (Count)VII
Plaintiff's retaliation claims are subject to the same analytical frameworlaigsifPs disparate

treatment claims under these statut@seJones v. Sch. Dist. of Phila., 198 F.3d 403, 415 (3d Cir.

1999) (analyzing retaliation claims under Title VII, § 1981, and the PHRA undesatne
framework).

To statea prima facie case oétaliationunder this framework, “a plaintiff must show that
(1) she was engaged in a protected activity; (2) her employer took aduerseagainst her; and
(3) there is a causal connection between h[er] participation in the protectésg and the adverse

employment action.’Diallo v. Commonwealth Support Servs., No. 18-1517, 2019 WL 95918, at

*5 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 3, 2019) (Baylson, J.) (citing Moore v. City of Phila., 461 F.3d 331, 340-41 (3d

Cir. 2006)).

Again, Defendants’ argument turns on whetR&intiff hasadequately allegethat she
experienced aadverse employment action, as required to establish the second and thirdseleme
“[D]iscrimination and retaliation claims apply different definitions of ‘advessgloyment

action.” Seldon v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp., 452SEpp. 2d 604, @ (E.D. Pa. 2006)

(McLaughlin, J.) To establish an adverse employment aaticthe retaliation context, a plaintiff
must plausibly allegthat “a reasonable employee would have found the alleged retaliatory actions
‘materially adverse’ in that they ‘well might have dissuaded a reasonabkernitom making a

charge of discrimination.”Moore, 461 F.3d at 33 (quotingBurlingtonN. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v.

White, 548 U.S. 53, 68 (2006)).
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Whether an employment action is “materially adverse” “often depends on a coiostellat
of surrounding circumstances, expectations, and relationships which are not fulleddptia
simple recitation of the words used or the physical acts perfornatlington, 548 U.S. at 69

(citation and internal quotation marks omittezhe, e.g.Allen v. Nutrisystem, Inc., No. 4107,

2013 WL 1776440, at *6 n.6 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 25, 2013) (Robrenmating that written warnings
thatareissued inconsistently withn employer’s disciplinary schemearepart of a progressive
disciplinary policy can constitute adverse employment actions)

Here, Plaintiff argues that the February Written Warning amounted to datptzdverse
employment action that occurred ninayd after Plaintiff engaged in a “protected activity” of
complaining to Macmullen about “improper statements” in Plaintiff's registragoord and
accusations about her work ethi&eéResp. at 89.) However, the Court conclusiidat Plaintiff
has failed to allege facestablishinghat Defendants took any action against Plaintiff vaald
tend to dissuade a reasonable employee from complaining to her supabmaralleged racial
discrimination. Plaintiff neither allegethat the February Written Warning was part of a
progressive disciplinary policy, nor that issuing the warning was inconsistinBraindywine’s
disciplinary scheme.Cf. Allen, 2013 WL 1776440, at *6 n.6. While the February Written
Warning could conceivably form the basis for an adverse employment bettause it stated that
“further disciplinary action up to and including termination” coblze resultedPlaintiff does
not allege that she was subject‘tiarther disciplinary action.” (SeeAm. Compl. { 23.)In the
absence o$uch allegationsRlaintiff has failed to make out claims for retaliation based on race
While Plaintiff has stated claims @éce discriminationby plausibly alleginga hostile work

environment, Plaintiff has not alleged any facts suggesting that Plaintiff ta#iatesl against for
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reporting the hostile work environment. As a result, the Court need not addresséieing
elements of the primiacie casgandPlaintiff’'s racebased retaliation claims will be dismissed.

V. Disability Discrimination (Count IV): Disparate Treatment and
Failure to Accommodate

Plaintiff alleges disability discrimination under the ADA on two theories: disparate
treatmet and failure to accommodate. Defendants argue that Plaintiff cannot establisia a pr
facie of disability discrimination based on disparate treatment because Phagfifiled to allege
an adverse employment action. (Mot. atZ&%l) As to Plaintiffs failure to accommodate claim,
Defendants contend that Plaintiff has failed to allege facts showing that shestestor was
denied a reasonable accommodatidd. gt 25-30.) The Court addresses each theory in turn.

a. Disparate Treatment

Disability discrimination claims under the ADA are subject to the same bgtditimg
framework asacediscriminationclaims undeg 1981 Title VII, and the PHRASeeNewman v.

GHS Osteopathic, Inc. v. Parkview Hosp. Div., 60 F.3d 153;-3563d Cir. 1995) (stating that

claims under Title VII and the ADA are subject to the same analytical framewedalsoPierce

Schmader v. MuntAiry Casino & Resort, No. 3:18v-1141,2014 WL 8106125, at *13 (M.D.

Pa. Nov. 20, 2014) (“[A] section 1981 claim for gloyment discrimination is reviewed with the
same burden shifting framework as a Title VII or ADA claim[.]To establish a prima facie case
of discrimination under the ADA, plaintiff mustplausibly allege®(1) that [s]he is disabled within
the meanig of the ADA, (2) that [s]he is otherwise qualified for the job, with or without reddena
accommodations, and (3) that [s]he was subjected to an adverse employment deaisesuks

of discrimination.” _Sulima v. Tothanna Army Depqt602 F.3d 177, 185 (3d Cir. 2010J.he

definition of “adverse employment action” under Title VII discrimination claitee applies to

ADA claims. SeeCunningham v. Nordisk, 615 F. App’x 97, 100 (3d Cir. 2015).
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Here, Defendantsontest whether Plaiffitihas alleged sufficient facts to establish the third
elementan adverse employment action as a result of discriminb#ised on her disabilityMot.
at 9-12.) Plaintiff makes no arguments iasponse.

Plaintiff's allegations are plainly insufficient to state a disparate treatment afaier the
ADA. As noted above, Plaintiff does not claim that she was sejeot a hostile work
environment on the basis of her disabiliBlaintiff appears to alleghatthe improper statements
written about Plaintiff in a patient’s registration record, accusations abowtole ethic, and the
February Written Warning were adverse employment decisions that desudie disability
discrimination. (Am. Compl. 1 21, 24, 28.)

The Amended Complaint is devoid of any allegations concerning how these actions
materially altered the “terms or conditions” of Plaintiffs employment, agiired to state a

disparate treatment claingeeDeans v. Kennedy House, Inc., 998 F. Supp. 2d 393;141(E.D.

Pa. 2014) (Robreno, J.) (concluding that disciplinary warnings regarding tardineseaddrate
were not adverse employment actions because they did not alter the terms or conditiens of
plaintiffs employment). While the February Written Warning provided that “if improvement
[with Plaintiff's tardiness] d[id] not occur . . . further disciplinaryiastup to and including
termination [would have resulted],” Plaintiff has not alleged that “furtismiglinary actim” did

in fact result. $eeAm. Compl. 11 23, 27keealsoDeans 998 F. Supp. 2d at 8311 (noting that
“[u]ntil [warnings] are acted upon by the employer, they remain simplpinwgs[,]” not adverse
employment action)s Even if these events arose ke tlevel of adverse employment actions,
Plaintiff has not alleged any facts from which the Court may reasonablytidt these actions
were caused by discriminatory animus on the basis of Plaintiff's disaldligyntiff’'s ADA claim

based on disparateeatment in Count IV will be dismissed.
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b. Failure to Accommodate

Next, Plaintiff alleges thaBrandywineis liable for failure to accommodate or engage in
an interactive process under the ADA. In particular, Plaintiff alleges thatBwine’sfailure to
reasonably accommodate her need for “short breakdbr bathroom breaks to check her blood
sugar and blood pressure amounted to disability discriminat®eeAMm. Compl. 1 19-20.)

The ADA provides a remedy when an employer fails “toak[e] reasonable
accommodations to the known physical or mental limitations of an otherwise gleddigidual
with a disability who is an . . employee,” unless the employer “can demonstrate that the
accommodation would impose an undue hardship on the operation of the business.” 42 U.S.C. §
12112(b)(5)(A) Under the ADA, “[d]iscrimination . . . encompasses not only esdvactions
motivated by prejudice and fear of disabilities, but also includes failure to neakenable

accommodations for a plaintiff's disabilitiesRuggiero v. Mount Nittany Med. Ctr., 736 F. App’x

35, 39 (3d Cir. 2018) (quoting Taylor v. Phoenilevich. Dist. 184 F.3d 296, 306 (3d Cir. 1999)

“Reasonable accommodations” are defined as “[m]odifications or adjustrogh&swork
environment, or to the manner or circumstances under which the position held or desired is
customarily performed, thanable an individual with a disability who is qualified to perform the
essential functions of that position.” 29 C.F.R. 8 1630.2(0)(1)(ii). To determine the ageropria
“reasonable accommodatginfor an employee’s disability, “it may be necessary foe th
[employer] to initiate an informal, interactive process with the [employaedt an employee puts
the employer on notice of a disability and request for accommodatiayior, 184 F.3d at 311
(citation and internal quotation marks omitteduggiero, 736 F. App’x at 39.

In light of these rules, to prevail amfailure to accommodatelaim, a plaintiff must
plausibly allege: “(1) [s]he was disabled and h[er] employer knew it; (Be [spquested an
accommodation or assistance; (3) h[er] esgpt did not make a good faith effort to assist; and (4)
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[s]he could have been reasonably accommodated.” Capps v. Modelez Global, LLC, 847 F.3d 144,

157 (3d Cir. 2017) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

In this case, Defendants seek disnlisgdlaintiff's failure to accommodate claim based
on the second element, contending that Plaintiff has failed to allege that shed egequested
a reasonable accommodation. (Mot. at 23.) Plaintiff, on the other hand, argsbe ttefuested
a reasonable accommodation in the fahFMLA leave. (Resp. at 323.) Instead of engaging
in an interactive process, Plaintiff argues, Defendants “constantlyianexstwhether her
responses were legitimate or excuses for being lalé.’at(13.)

Plainiff is correct that, “under certain circumstances, a request famittent FMLA
leave may . . . constitute a request for a reasonable accommodation under the@dpAs, 847
F.3d at 146.Even assuming that such circumstances are presentline®mended Complaint
does not alleg¢hat Brandywinefailed to make a good faith effort to accommodate Plaintiff's
request for intermittent FMLA leave. The Amended Complaint alleges that Pladotiffituously
informed her supervisors” that she needed “short breaks” to check her blood sugar and blood
pressure due to her diabetes agpokalemia. (Am. Compl. {1 15, 31Plaintiff alleges that her
supervisors responded by “accus[ing] her of disappearing from work and taking unadthoriz
bathroom breaks|[,]” and that “[p]rior to November 2017, Plaintiff was not given any sededul
breaks . . . to check her blood sugar or blood pressul@.f{[ 16-17.) However, Plaintiff also
alleges thaBrandywinegranted Plaintiff intermittent FMLA leave “due to her medical condition.”
(Id. T 24 seealso Mot. Ex. 1) As Plaintiff alleges that she received FMLA leave that she
requested, Plaintif§ failure to accommodatelaim cannot withstand dismissaGeeCapps 847

F.3d at 157. Therefore, Count IV will bésmissed.
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V. Disability-Based Retaliation (Count V)

Plaintiff also alleges retaliation on the basis of her disability, arguingBifzetdywine
issued the February Written Warning because she requested FMLA leavefomihaf “short
breaks andor bathroom breaks.As with Plaintiff's racebasedretaliationclaims Defendants
contend that Plaintiff's disabilithased retaliation claimustbe dismissed for failure tlege an
adverse employment action. (Mot. at-34.) Defendants further contend that Plaintiff cannot
state an ADA retaliation claim because Plaintiff has failed to allege that she éngageADA-
protected activity. I1¢. at 31-32.)

As discussed above, Plaintiff has failed to plausibly allege that she suffessti/arse
employment action to sustain rasased retaliation claimsder § 1981, Title VII, and the PHRA.

For the same reasons, Plaintiff's ADA retaliation clamst be dismissedseeKatchur v. Thomas

Jefferson Univ., 354 F. Supp. 3d 655, 670 n.11 (E.D. Pa. 2019) (Baylson, J.) (noting that the same

framework governsetaliation claims under the ADA aigd1981). As a result, the Court does not
address Defendants’ alternative arguments, and Count V will be dismissed.
Vi. FMLA Interference and Retaliation Claims (Count VI)

Next, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants violated the FMLA by interfering witi#ffes
exercise of her righto intermittent FMLA leave and by retaliating against Plaintiffen she
exercisedhat right The Court addresses Plaintiff's interference rataliation claims separately.

a. Interference

The FMLA makes it “unlawful for any employer to interfere with, restraindemy the
exercise of or attempt to exercise, any right provided tntderFMLA. 29 U.S.C. §&15(a)(1).

“ Interfering with the exercise of an employee’s rights would include . . . not only refusing to

authorize FMLA leave, but [also] discouraging an employee from using sweh’lédonoshenti
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v. Pub. Serv. Elec. & Gas Co., 364 F.3d 135, 142 (3d Cir. 2004) (quoting 29 C.F.R. § 82%.220(b)

An interference claim may also arise from an employer’s “fail[ure] to advise aloBpof . . .

her FMLA rights.” Jacobs v. York Union Rescue Mission, Inc., No.-C¥20288,2013 WL

433327 at *4 (M.D. Pa. Feb. 5, 2013).
To statean FMLA interference claimg plaintiff mustplausibly allege

(1) . . .[S]he was an eligible employee under the FMLA,; (2) the defendant was an
employer subject to the FMLA’s requirements; (3) the plaintiff was entitled to
FMLA leave; (4) theplaintiff gave notice to the defendant of . . . her intention to
take FMLA leave; and (5) the plaintiff was denied benefits to which . . . she was
entitled under the FMLA.

Ross v. Gilhuly, 755 F.3d 185, 191-92 (3d Cir. 20IR¢gardless of the basis for an interference
claim, the Supreme Court has stated that “the FMLA praviderelief unless #nemployee has

been prejudiced by the violation.” Ragsdale v. Wolverine World Wide, Inc., 535 U.S. 81, 89

(2002) “In this Circuit, a plaintiff establishes prejudice by showing that an employer’s failure to
comply with the [FMLA] and regulations ‘rendered [her] unable to exercise [drAFkght in a

meaningful way, thereby causing injury.Iliinella v. Lenape Valley Foundl52 F. Supp. 3d 445,

462 (E.D. Pa. 2015) (Baylson, (aJterations in originaljquoting_Conoshenti, 364 F.2d143).

Defendantchallengethe fourth and fifth elements, contending that Plaintiff did not give
notice to Defendants of her intention teeUSMLA leave to be tardyand that Plaintiff cannot
allege that she was denied FMLA benefits to which she was eft@tedise her approved FMLA
leave did not cover tardiness. (Mot. at-88.) Defendants also aver that Plaintiff has failed to
allege thashe was prejudiced by Defendants’ interferer(¢e. at 46-41.)

i. Notice of Intention to Take FMLA Leave
As to the fourth element, the Court concluddaintiff has adequately alleged that she

provided legally sufficient notice to entitle her to benefits under the FMLA. “To invigkés
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under the FMLA, employees must provide adequate notice to their employer abouoetd to

take leave.”Lichtensteinv. Univ. of Pittsburgh Med. Ctr., 691 F.284, 3033d Cir. 2012). This

requirement is “not onerous.ld. (quotingBurnett v. LFW Inc. 472 F.3d 471, 478 (7th Cir.

2006); seealsoLichtenstein 691 F.3d at 308 The regulations already make it very easy for [an

employee] to give notice of her intent to take lea\alteration in originalquoting Rask v.

Fresenius Med. Care N. An®09 F.3d 466, 575 (8th Cir. 2007))). Accordingly, “[a]n employee

who does notite to the FMLA or provide the exact dates or duration of the leave requested

nonetheless may have providder employer with reasonably adequate information under the

circumstances to understand that the employee seeks leave under the FB&tAdtvskv. Air

Brooke Limousine, In¢.510 F.3d 398, 402 (3d Cir. 2007). The “critical teist™how the

information conveyed to the employer is reasonably interpreteiglitenstein 691 F.3d at 303
(quoting_Sarnowski, 510 F.3d at 402).

Defendants are corretttatthe Amended Complaint does not allege that Plaintiff notified
Defendants of her intent to use FMLA leave to excuse her tardiness. Hotevémended
Complaint plausibly alleges thaPlaintiff provided Defendantwith “reasonably adequate
information under the circumstances” for Defendants “to understand that [Plaintiff] s[demye]
under the FMLA”for her medical conditions SeeSanowski 510 F.3d at 402.Specifically,
Plaintiff alleges that shepfoperly requested and was granted FMiirAe dwe to her medical
condition.” (Am. Compl. {1 24.) Defendants have not cited, nor is this Court aware of, any
precedential judicial decisiorsiggesting that an employee’s FMLA interference claim must be
dismissed for failure to provide notice where employer granted the employee FMLA leave.
Therefore, Plaintiff has alleged sufficient facts demonstrating that diwfieshthe notice

requirements of the FMLA.
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ii. Interference Resulting in Prejudice

Plaintiff allegesthat Defendants interfered with her rightsder the FMLA in three ways.
First, by issuing the February Written Warning to “discourage [Plainfiim using her
intermittent FMLA time by falsely characterizing such time as tardine$d.’Y 9.) Secod, by
failing to provide Plaintiffwith “clarification of her available intermittent FMLA time,” which
Plaintiff requested “consistently and often,” before issuing the FebruatieWwwarning. I@.
30.) Third, Plaintiff alleges thaturing theApril 2017 meeting to “clear the air” with “issues, . . .
including Plaintiff's use of intermittent FMLA time and/or time to take short bré&kshle told
Plaintiff to “not even think about reporting [her time] to FMLA [Source],” and thataintiff did
repot her time to FMLA Source, Goble would fight the requested tinid. §(32.) After the
meeting, Plaintiff alleges that she “was afraid to use her approved andamgdessrmittent
FMLA time in fear of being further disciplined or terminatedid. § 35.)

Defendants argue that these allegations do not support an FMLA interferemee cla
Specifically, Defendants contend that Plaintiff cannot allege that she wias thenefits to which
she was entitled because Plaintiff’'s approved intermittent FMLAelel&V not cover tardiness
“short breaks.” (Mot. at 38-39.) As Plaintiff's “short breaks” did not fall within the parameters
of her approved FMLA leave, Defendants argue, Goble’s alleged comments did jndicpre
Plaintiff's utilization of approved FMA leave. (Id. at 46-41; id.Ex. 1.) The Court is not so
persuaded.

The Amended Complaint plausibly alleges that Defendants interfered withettwsexof
Plaintiff's FMLA rights. Even if Plaintiff's approved leave did not specifically cover tardioess
“short breaks,” Plaintiff has plausibly alleged that Goble discourageddmetéking FMLA leave

by telling Plaintiff to “not even think about reporting [her time]”RMLA Source (SeeAm.
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Compl. 1 32) seealsoJacobs 2013 WL 433327, at *5 (concluding that an allegation that the
defendant’s management discouratfesblaintiff from taking time off for medical reasons could
support an FMLA interference claimPlaintiff's allegation that Defendants failed to advise her
of her rights to use FMLA leave for “short breakstoexcuse tardiness also constitutes a valid
basis for an FMLA interference claim at the pleading sta§eeid. 1 3Q) Finally, Plaintiff has
sufficiently alleged that she suffered prejudaPlaintiff alleges that she was afraid to use FMLA
time after Goble discouraged her from “reporting [her timeSed(id. 11 32 35.) Therefore,
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff SMLA interference claim will be denied.
b. Retaliation

Plaintiff also alleges that Defendanislated the FMLA by issuing the February Written
Warning after Plaintiff requested intermittent FMLA leave. The FMLA msakanlawful for an
employer “to discharge or in any other manner discriminate against amidiralifor opposing
any practice madaenlawful by’ the FMLA. 29 U.S.C. 8§ 2615(a)(2). To prevail on an FMLA
retaliation claim, a plaintiff must show that “(1) sheoked her right to FMLAgualifying leave,
(2) she suffered an adverse employment decision, and (3) the aaletirsevas causally related
to her invocation of rights.’Lichtenstein 691 F.3cat 301-02.

Defendants argue that Plaintiff has failed to allege an adverse employt@amtasupport
an FMLA retaliation claimand Plaintiff offers no arguments in responsgeefMot. at 41+42.)
For the reasons set forth above regarding Plaintiff's retaliation claims 8i@&1, Title VII, the
PHRA, and the ADA, Plaintiff has failed to establish an adverse employment ssustain an
FMLA retaliation claim. SeeAllen, 2013 WL 17644Q at *6 n.6 (“The Third Circuit has

recognizedthe materially advergestandard as applicabte adverse employment actions in §
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1981 and FMLA retaliation cases.”)Plaintiff's FMLA retaliation claimin Count VIwill be
dismissed.

ii. PHRA Aiding and Abetting Claim (Count IX)
Finally, Plaintiff alleges that Macmullen is liable for aiding and abetting Braime’'s

PHRA violations. Section 955(e) of the PHRA makes it unlawful for “any person, genplo .
or employef to aid, abet, incite, compel or coerce the doing” of ankawful discriminatory
practice prohibited by the PHRA, including 8 955(a).P43.8 955(e). Plaintiff may maintain an
aiding and abetting claim based on Brandywine’s alleged creation of ke hestk environment
in violation of the PHRA, which is the basis of Plaintiff's PHRA discrimination andlaagork

environment claims. Cf. Kaniuka v. Good Shepherd Home, No.-0¥-02917,2006 WL

2380387 at *10 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 15, 2006) (Stengel, J.) (“Individual defendants cannot violate
PHRA section 955(e) when there is no corresponsi@agion955(a) violation by an employer to
aid and abet.”).

“When a supervisory employee has knowledge of conduct which creates a hostile work
environment, inaction by such an employee or failing to take prompt remedial actiondotpre
harassment rises to the levelindividual aiding and abetting under [ ] 8 955(e) of the PHRA.”

Hewitt v. BS Transp. of Ill., LLG 355 F. Supp. 3d 227, 238 (E.D. Pa. 2019) (DuBois, J.) (citation

and internal quotation marks omitted). A “supervisory employee” may be liable girgd&i(e)
“for h[er] own direct acts of discrimination or fofen] failure to take action to prevent further
discrimination by an employee under supervisiond. (citation and internal quotation marks

omitted; see, e.gDici v. Commonwealth of Pa., 91 F.3d 542, 553 (3d Cir. 1996) (holding that an

allegation that the plaintiff's supervisor knew or should have known that the plaintitheuas
harassedby coworkers and repeatedly refused to take prompt action would, if proven true,
constitute aiding and abetting).
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Here, Plaintiff alleges that Macmullea “supervisory employeekhew about Aubry and
Lafond’s allegedly harassing conduct greimitted this behavior to continueSeeDici, 91 F.3d
at 553 (holding that the plaintiff's supervisor was a proper defendant under § 9Sp@jifically,
the Amended Complaint alleges that “Plaintiff informed . . . Macmullen of [AubryLaf@hd’s]
racially incentive and discriminatory conduct and statements,” and that Macmullen “allossed t
offensive comments and remarks to continue to happen on a regular basis.” (Am. Jatpl. |
44.) These allegations permit the Court to draw the reasanéience that Macmullen failed to
take action to prevent further discrimination experienced by Plaintifferefore, Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's aiding and abetting claim against Macmullen is denied.
VI.  Conclusion

DefendantsMotion to Dismisswill be granted in part and denied in part. The Motion to
Dismiss will be grantedyith prejudice,as to Plaintiff's claims ofetaliation under § 1981, Title
VII, and the PHRA (Counts |, lll, and VIII); discrimination and retaliation uriderADA (Couris
IV and V); and retaliation under the FMLA (Count VI). Plaintiff has alydaad an opportunity
to amend the Complaint and has failed to allege sufficient facts demonstratirdyensea
employment action, with the exception of a raesed hostile worknvironment, as necessary to
sustainclaims of disability discrimination as well as retaliation based on race, disahititly
medical leave.As further amendment would be futile, the Court dismisses these claims without

granting leave to amendgeeGrayson v. Mayview State Hosp., 293 F.3d 103, 108 (3d Cir. 2002)

(stating that a district court may dismigsactionwith prejudice when leave to amend would be

inequitable offutile); seealsoln re EgaletCorp. Sec. Litig, 340 F. Supp. 3d 479, 514 (E.D. Pa.

2018) (Baylson, J.) (noting that a findingfafility is proper wheréthe complaint, as amended,
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would fail to state a claim upon which relief could be granted”) (citediwh internal quotation
marksomitted).

The Motion will be denied as to Plaiifis claims of racediscrimination and hostile work
environment (Counts I, Il, and VII); FMLA interference (Count VI); and aidingadelting under
the PHRA (Count IX).

An appropriate Order follows.
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